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Who we are

In 1994, the NSW Government established City West Housing (CWH) as an independent not 
for profit housing provider. The initial focus was on developing and delivering affordable 
rental housing as part of a mixed residential community in the Ultimo/Pyrmont area for 
people on very low to moderate incomes. As a result of its initial success, CWH expanded its 
operations to Green Square and now owns and manages affordable rental housing across the 
City of Sydney. 

Today CWH is a Tier 1 registered community housing 
provider with strong development capability and 
a commitment to service delivery. Our ongoing 
investment in the areas in which we operate and the 
supports we provide to our residents across a range 
of income groups to help them access the benefits of 
living close to jobs, supports, and other amenities, 
helps us contribute to inclusive communities and the 
functioning of our city.

Our vision
To provide quality, affordable rental housing to 
support very low to moderate income households to 
live and work in the Sydney area.

Our Mission
To build community diversity through the provision of 
quality affordable rental housing, allowing people to 
live and work locally.

Our Values
 » Accountability
 » Honesty
 » Leadership

Who we house
We give priority to those who demonstrate a  
need for housing in the area.

Our structure
City West Housing has two classes of shares, 
Ordinary and Redeemable Preference Shares. 
Ownership of the Company is vested through the 
Ordinary Shares, with Redeemable Preference 
Shares issued to organisations with a direct interest 
in the development and management of housing, 
specifically affordable housing. 

In 2017/18 the Ordinary Shareholders were the Hon. 
Pru Goward MP, NSW Minister for Social Housing, 
and The Hon. Dominic Perrottet MP, NSW Treasurer. 
The ten Preference Shareholders at 30 June 2018 
included:

 » Australand Corporation Ltd, trading as Frasers 
Property

 » Australian Chinese Community Association of NSW

 » Churches Housing Inc

 » City of Sydney 

 » Lend Lease Development Pty Ltd

 » Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd

 » Shelter NSW

 » St George Bank Ltd

 » The Star Pty Limited

 » Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (NSW)

(ACN 47 065 314 758)
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Financial year highlights

89%
overall tenant 

satisfaction

72%
satisfaction with the 

way CWH involves 
tenants

$679.6
MILLION

net assets

89%
tenant satisfaction with 
their neighbourhood as 

a place to live

724
apartments housing 

1,349 residents

$30.1
MILLION

surplus

77%
satisfaction 

with repairs and 
maintenance service

88%
satisfaction with the 

condition of their home

72%
staff agree or strongly 

agree that they feel 
engaged and happy at work

In comparison to the NRSCH thresholds, City West 
Housing comfortably out-performed the thresholds 
for overall satisfaction and condition of home. 

Community Housing Industry Association NSW
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It was also a year of renewal, including strengthening 
the senior management team under the capable 
leadership of our new CEO, Leonie King, who joined 
the organisation in November 2017. 

2018 performance highlights
CWH’s strategic priorities for 2018-2023 are to deliver 
growth and sustainability by: 

 » supporting our people; 
 » engaging with our customers and communities; and 
 » managing key relationships. 

During the year, achievements against these priorities 
included: 

 » continuing to grow our portfolio to meet housing 
needs; 

 » maintaining our strong financial position; 
 » improving customer service to our residents;
 » building organisational capacity; and 
 » developing new partnerships to support our vision 

and mission. 

Governance
CWH continued to focus on corporate governance 
to ensure that we are best equipped to meet the 
needs of our residents and other stakeholders. This 
included the Board commencing a process to revise 
and update the CWH constitution to bring it in line 
with the modern standards of corporate governance. 
Shareholders will consider the revised constitution in 
the coming financial year.

In February 2018, Wendy Field stepped down from the 
Board after more than two years of service to focus on 
her role as Head of Policy and Programs at The Smith 
Family. Wendy made an invaluable contribution to 
the Company, including her guidance as Chair of the 
Community Engagement and Tenancy Committee. 

Message from the Chair
This year was another year of growth 
for CWH as we began two new 
developments in Glebe and Harold Park, 
which will bring the number of affordable 
rental apartments we own and manage 
to 897 by the end of 2019. 

MIKE ROLLO
CWH Chair
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and their departments, the ongoing commitment 
of our Redeemable Preference Shareholders and 
the collaborative approach of the City of Sydney 
in working towards our shared goal of increasing 
affordable rental housing in the area.

I recognise the considerable efforts of our Board, 
the strategic contribution of our new CEO and the 
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MIKE ROLLO
CWH Chair

By the end of 2019 we 
will have a portfolio 
of 897 apartments
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As well as hitting important development milestones, 
CWH has been focussed on: 

 » taking steps to enhance the quality of our customer 
service; 

 » putting in place the infrastructure and systems 
needed to support, track and continually improve 
our performance; and 

 » continuing to build community and industry 
partnerships to help us deliver on our vision  
and mission. 

As a charity, CWH has a social purpose to provide 
quality, affordable rental housing for people on 
very low to moderate incomes and to help build 
communities where people can live and work locally. 
As a registered community housing provider, we 
measure our success in how we perform against 
industry benchmarks and from the feedback we 
receive through our performance under the National 
Regulatory System for Community Housing (NRSCH) 
and from our customers – our residents. 

For CWH customer service is not about generating profit 
but about providing quality services to a diverse range of 
applicants and residents, while focussing on operating 

efficiently and maintaining viability. This was a major 
focus for the year, with our latest tenant satisfaction 
survey showing an overall satisfaction rating of 89%.

“Overall, 89% of residents were satisfied with the 
services provided by CWH, well beyond the with CHIA 
NSW’s benchmark threshold of 75%”.

Community Housing Industry Association NSW

While overall tenant satisfaction levels were high, 
we underperformed in some areas, most notably 
listening to and acting on the views of residents and 
allowing residents to influence decision making. This 
has become a focus area for us, commencing with the 
establishment this year of a new tenant advisory group, 
CWH Tenant Voice.

Maintenance of our portfolio is a work in progress. 
After a year of painting, rectification projects and 
other capital works, tenant satisfaction with the 
condition of their home was at 88%. Satisfaction with 
our repairs and maintenance service however was 
only 77%. We have since introduced a new quality 
assurance system, which includes audits of completed 
repairs and maintenance to provide additional 

CEO’s Report
It has been a busy year for CWH. 

LEONIE KING
CWH CEO
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information about areas where we can improve. We 
have also revised our standard operating procedures 
and re-tested the market for some of our key 
contracts, with a view to improving value for money 
and service quality. 

In terms of our future growth plans, CWH’s project 
development pipeline will see us nearly double our 
affordable rental housing apartment numbers by 
2023. During the year we began construction on our 
Wentworth Street, Glebe project and appointed a 
builder for our Ross Street, Harold Park development. 
CWH is very fortunate to be the recipient of 
developer contributions for affordable housing in 
the City of Sydney. With other new development 
projects awaiting approval and more planned land 
acquisitions, we are on track to deliver a pipeline of 
more than 600 new apartments over the next five 
years, housing some 1,300 residents.

While we need to deliver good quality services and 
continue to grow affordable housing supply to meet 
demand, we can only do this if we are financially 
sustainable. During the year, CWH maintained its 
strong financial position. At 30 June 2018, CWH had 
net assets of $679.6M, of which $447.0M related 
to our property portfolio, and net cash flows from 
operating activities of $55.8M. The current year 
surplus was $30.1M, a decrease of $25.1M (45.5%) 
on the prior year primarily due to lower developer 
contributions (down $23.7M). 

Gross rental income of $10.3M was in line with budget 
and 2.6% up on the prior year. Total expenses increased 

by $2.6M to $17.9M year on year. This was primarily due 
to increased depreciation on our buildings.  

As well as being busy it has been a year of change 
at the coal face. This year we farewelled our Head 
of Development, Steve De Pasquale and Asset 
Manager, Keith Casey, who left CWH to progress 
their careers in related fields. In their place we 
appointed two excellent candidates: our new Head 
of Development, Lisa Sorrentino, a highly skilled 
residential development executive; and a new 
Head of Assets, Ryan Rosenbaum who has asset 
management experience in both the community 
housing and private sectors. We also said goodbye 
to our Tenancy Manager Christina Hough, who took 
up a role with another community housing provider. 
Our new Head of Housing Services Samantha Ngui, 
brings her extensive experience in the government 
and non-government sectors to the role. With a new 
CFO appointed just before the start of the reporting 
year, CWH now has a refreshed senior management 
team working cohesively to support the company as it 
moves into its next stage of growth. 

Looking ahead, we continue to explore opportunities 
to grow our existing development pipeline to deliver 
more affordable rental housing. The Council for 
Economic Development of Australia estimates that our 
nation requires around 20,000 extra affordable rental 
dwellings each year. This need is especially urgent 
in high-cost housing markets like Sydney, where a 
recent study found that Sydney lost close to 20% of 
its essential services workers – including emergency 
workers, teachers and nurses, in the ten years to 2016. 

Overall, 89% of residents 
were satisfied with the 
services provided by CWH, well 
beyond the with CHIA NSW’s 
benchmark threshold of 75%. 

Community Housing Industry Association NSW



At CWH we are proud to play a role in helping to 
address housing need. In the coming year, we 
will continue our efforts to provide better quality 
services for our residents, deliver our development 
pipeline and explore strategic partnerships with 
other developers to find new ways to deliver more 
affordable housing. 

Having only been in the role of CEO since November 
2017 I would especially like to thank my Board of 
Directors, my senior management team and all of the 
staff at CWH for their warm welcome and support.

I would also like to thank the newly appointed 
members of our Tenant Advisory Group, CWH Tenant 
Voice, and our entire resident community for their 
feedback and support. 

We will continue to work to make places that people 
are proud to live in and be part of.

LEONIE KING
CWH CEO
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CITY OF SYDNEY LGA

BUILDINGS IN 
DEVELOPMENT 
PIPELINE

CWH BUILDINGS

rosebery

beaconsfield

alexandria

st peters

zetland

waterloo

moore park

redfern

eveleigh
newtown

darlington

camperdown
chippendale

surry hills
paddington

centennial park

haymarket

darlinghurst

woolloomooloo elizabeth bay

rushcutters bay

potts 
point

the rocks

dawes point

sydney

barangaroo

millers point

pyrmont

glebe

forest lodge

annandale

ultimo

erskineville

Where our buildings 
are located



who we house

Number of people living in a CWH property (residents and household members)

1,349 RESIDENTS LIVE  
IN CWH PROPERTIES

MAIN LANGUAGE SPOKEN AT HOME 

females

males

Aboriginal 
or Torres 

Strait 
islander 

people with 
a disability

79% 21%

english non- english



who we house

Number of people living in a CWH property (residents and household members)

two adults with children

8%

12%

29%

homeless

other

living with  
family/friends/

share housing

living in 
private rental

HOUSING STATUS 
PRIOR TO LIVING IN 
A CWH PROPERTY

REASONS FOR 
LEAVING PRIOR 

HOUSING

HOUSEHOLD TYPES LIVING 
IN OUR PROPERTIES

couples

single person households

single parent households

51%
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under their roof

Offering security to vulnerable families

Single mother Hannah was stuck living in a low-quality, unsafe apartment block 
hours from the city with her son, Mark, who was often home alone due to his 
mother’s long commute from her workplace. 

“We lived somewhere that wasn’t very secure, somewhere that was quite small, 
and I was always worried,” she recalled. “I was always rushing home from work, 
scared for him to be home alone. And it took me so long to get there – that was a 
huge stress factor for me.”

Now, Hannah and Mark – who has just turned 13 – live in a City West Housing 
Development in Pyrmont. They’ve called it home since the start of 2017.

“It’s a higher quality than my previous rentals, which were actually further out but 
even more expensive. It helps with everything when you can just focus on your job 
during business hours,” she said. “I always perform better at work when I’m not 
worrying about what’s happening at home.”

Security of tenure gives Hannah peace of mind, and Mark new opportunities. Since 
their move, Mark has found a new favourite sport and passion in dragon boating. 
Such a passion, in fact, that his team attended the Australian National Dragon Boat 
Championships in March and collected five gold medals as well as one silver. And 
Hannah was there to watch him succeed, “I was right there to see them win and see 
how hard those kids worked – it was so unexpected,” says Hannah.

Hannah and Mark’s story is the perfect example of how people thrive when given 
the security of tenure they deserve, “Honestly, City West Housing has taken so 
much stress off my shoulders. I’m safe and secure and my son is happy. “I’m just so 
appreciative that we have the chance to live here.” 

Hannah and Mark at 
Wentworth Park, Glebe.

At CWH we respect our 
resident’s right to privacy. 
Names have been changed 
in this case study to protect 
their privacy. Thank you for 
understanding.

Honestly, City 
West Housing 
has taken so 
much stress off 
my shoulders.
CWH resident
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Delivering growth and sustainability

Working with the NSW Government and the City of Sydney,  
CWH aims to nearly double our portfolio by 2023.

724
apartments

1349
residents

Growing our portfolio to meet  
housing need
CWH plans to nearly double our affordable rental housing apartment 
numbers by late 2023. Development milestones towards this goal included 
beginning construction on our Wentworth Street, Glebe project and 
appointing a builder for our Ross Street, Harold Park development. 

With other new development projects awaiting approval and more planned 
land acquisitions, we are on track to deliver a pipeline of more than 600 
additional apartments over the next five years. 

Our objective to deliver appropriate rental housing requires high-quality, 
sustainable development projects. The process of delivering these projects 
is complex and lengthy, often taking multiple years from identification to 
completion. This year was an exciting year for CWH, with two of our projects 
reaching the key milestone of the construction phase.

Wentworth Street, Glebe – render of 99 new apartments.
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Delivering growth and sustainability

Wentworth Street, Glebe

This eight-storey, mixed use development will 
comprise four commercial tenancies on the ground 
floor and 99 residential apartments for social and 
affordable housing tenants on the seven floors above. 

The development will also feature basement car park 
facilities, bike storage and two large communal areas, 

including a roof terrace. 

In December 2017, Kane Constructions Pty Ltd was 
awarded the contract to construct this development. 
Site establishment and excavation commenced in 
March 2018.  We anticipate completion and the first 
residents to move in towards the end of 2019.

99 RESIDENTIAL APARTMENTS

This development in the Wentworth 
Street precinct, Glebe, will provide long-
term affordable rental housing to city 
workers who would otherwise be unable 
to live close to their place of work 
Clover Moore, Lord Mayor
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Ross Street,  
Harold Park

This five-storey residential 
development will have 75 
apartments and a basement 
car park. Key features include 
two communal rooftop gardens 
including a BBQ area, vegetable 
garden and entertaining areas. 

In April 2018, CWH selected 
PBS Building as the contractor. 
Construction is expected to begin 
later this year, following the 
satisfaction of DA conditions, and is 
forecast for completion by early 2020. 

Ross Street Harold Park development - rendering (design by Scott Carver).

Sod turning ceremony.

75 APARTMENTS

Building the development pipeline

Planning and design work continue for our Bourke Street, Waterloo 
and Botany Road, Alexandria projects.  

In addition to our pipeline projects, a number of other opportunities 
are being investigated.

Delivering growth and sustainability
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Diversifying our revenue to support 
the growth of the business

$679.6
MILLION

net assets

$30.1
MILLION

surplus

Delivering growth and sustainability

In addition to rental revenue and developer 
contributions received under the City of Sydney 
LEP 2012 and related affordable housing programs, 
CWH is in receipt of incentives under the National 
Rental Affordability Scheme.  

The focus moving forward is on delivering on our 
development pipeline to increase our rental income 
and support greater efficiencies and to explore 
opportunities for growth through key partnerships 
including investment partners for growth through 
key partnerships.



Delivering growth and sustainability

 24-HOURS 
urgent works

 4-HOURS 
emergency works

TOTAL WORK 
ORDERS

 LIFECYCLE 
ongoing maintenance

 7-DAY 
responsive works

INCLUDES cleaning, lawns and grounds maintenance, 
fire safety, lift maintenance with smaller amounts 
spent ie termite/pest control, roof and gutter repairs, 
hydraulic services.

through remedial works including 
replacement of waterproofing, tiling, 
concrete sprawling, reinforcement 
of expansion joints at 3 buildings. 

CYCLIC AL 
M AINTEN ANCE 
SERV ICE S

RECTIFICATION 
UPGR ADES

M AINTEN ANCE 
WORK ORDERS
VALUE OF $800K

VALUE OF $700K

TECHNICAL SCOPES

COMPLETED

124 APARTMENTS

PL ANNED 
MAINTENANCE 0N

LIF TS AND 
COMMON 
ARE A WORKS

UPGRADE OF

     INSTALLED AT 
TWO BUILDINGS

THREE BUILDINGS 
E X TERN AL FAC ADE 
UPGR ADE
VALUED AT

UNITS IN 
6 MONTHS

INTERNAL 
PAINTING

USING 
OF PAINT 
ON FIVE 
BUILDINGS
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Delivering growth and sustainability

Managing our portfolio sustainably

Our comprehensive maintenance and capital works program 
ensures our buildings are safe, healthy and secure places 
to live and that they comply with relevant standards and 
legislation. This year saw rectification and improvement 
works across several CWH buildings, including: lift upgrades, 
remediating concrete sprawling, waterproofing balconies, 
re-rendering of walls, reinforcing expansion joints, and the 
installation of bike racks and a garden shed. 

We also worked with the NSW Department of Planning 
to inspect and certify the external facades on CWH 
buildings after the NSW Fair Trading Commissioner 
recently banned aluminium composite panelling 
containing polyethylene. The inspections found all 
CWH buildings compliant. An internal painting program, 
covering five buildings, was completed during the year. 
External painting of three buildings started in May 2018 
will be completed next financial year. 

In developing new buildings, CWH seeks sustainable 
designs that are better for the environment and also 
help to reduce bills for our residents. For example, 
we minimise water use in our 104 apartments at 
Portman Street by capturing and treating drinkable 
water waste and stormwater from rain. This treated 
water is then pumped back into the complex, servicing 
washing machines, toilets and watering systems in 
the common area garden.

Our new developments are designed to support cross 
flow ventilation, are fully insulated and use building 
materials designed to help reduce the need for 
mechanical heating and cooling.   

We continue to explore what else we can do to support 
sustainability, including through the development of 

new design guidelines and supporting community 
gardens in our buildings. Having reviewed the 
sustainability of many of our older residential 
buildings during the year, we began discussions with 
the Office of Environment and Heritage on options for 
retrofitting our existing buildings to deliver greater 
energy efficiency.

As part of our approach to a sustainable office, CWH 
staff use GoGet Carshare in lieu of maintaining a 
company fleet to reduce congestion, lower emissions, 
as well as reducing the demand for parking within the 
City of Sydney. 

CWH have also made preliminary efforts to achieve 
our goal to have a more sustainable office. With an 
estimated 1.2 billion coffee cups used in Australia 
each year, all staff were issued with a reusable coffee 
cup. Use of these reusable cups lower our contribution 
to landfill and save vital energy and resources that are 
used to both manufacture and dispose of traditional 
one-use cups. 

In the coming year, CWH will look to identify more 
opportunities in which we as  a company can reduce 
our overall carbon footprint.

88%
satisfaction with 

condition of home

industry benchmark 75%
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Delivering growth and sustainability

Driving an efficient business
CWH works to identify early when a tenant gets into 
rent arrears, taking a staged approach to give tenants 
opportunities to catch up with their payments. 

We continue to work with residents experiencing financial difficulty 
wherever possible to support them to address their rental arrears and 
stay living in their CWH property. Where appropriate, CWH also works to 
supports tenants in other ways to sustain their tenancies, including active 
referrals to support services. 

There are a range of reasons that contribute to the end of tenancies. This 
includes tenants who may be transitioning to the private rental market, to 
home ownership, or relocating for work. In the future, we will capture more 
detailed information when a tenant gives notice so that we better understand 
the reason for exits. We will also seek to capture any feedback on our 
customer service at the point of exit to ensure we can continuously improve. 

The housing services and asset teams continue to work together on 
ways to improve vacancy turnaround times on properties. An increase in 
management-initiated transfers next financial year will make this a priority.

industry benchmark 2.5%

1.79%
rent arrears as a % of 

rental revenue

industry benchmark 28 days

25.6
days average vacancy 

turnaround time 
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Immersing families in community gardening

Leanne is a single mother to four bright, 
lovely young people. She works part-
time, caring for the elderly in the local 
community, helping with groceries 
and cleaning homes. Outside work 
and looking after her family, she has a 
passion for gardening.

For Leanne, the CWH residents garden 
is about spending time with family 
and access to fresh vegetables. It is a 
place where she can spend time with 
her children and teach them about the 
values of patience, perseverance and 
responsibility. As the seasons change 
the children plant new seeds, water the 
plants after school and see the fruits of 
their hard work.

Every day, the family enjoys fresh, 
healthy vegetables. When she has a 
surplus, Leanne shares her produce 
with her elderly clients. She encourages 
all CWH residents to get involved in 
communal gardens as a way to improve 
their health and wellbeing. 

Leanne, CWH resident

It’s a great way to 
spend quality time 
with your family 
and neighbours 

Engaging with our customers  
and communities
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Leanne is a single mother to four bright, 
lovely young people. She works part-
time, caring for the elderly in the local 
community, helping with groceries 
and cleaning homes. Outside work 
and looking after her family, she has a 
passion for gardening.

For Leanne, the CWH residents garden 
is about spending time with family 
and access to fresh vegetables. It is a 
place where she can spend time with 
her children and teach them about the 
values of patience, perseverance and 
responsibility. As the seasons change 
the children plant new seeds, water the 
plants after school and see the fruits of 
their hard work.

Every day, the family enjoys fresh, 
healthy vegetables. When she has a 
surplus, Leanne shares her produce 
with her elderly clients. She encourages 
all CWH residents to get involved in 
communal gardens as a way to improve 
their health and wellbeing. 

Engaging with our customers  
and communities

CWH seeks to provide our tenants with efficient, effective and 
responsive services. We measure our performance against industry 
benchmarks in a number of ways, including through our tenant 
satisfaction survey conducted by the Community Housing Industry 
Association NSW. industry benchmark 75%

89%
overall satisfaction 

rating 

industry benchmark 84%

89%
satisfaction with their 

neighbourhood 

industry benchmark 75%

77%
satisfaction with repairs 

and maintenance 

industry benchmark 75%

72%
satisfaction with the way 

CWH involves tenants 
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Engaging with our customers  
and communities

In April 2018, our tenant satisfaction survey 
results showed that we were below the industry 
benchmark when it comes to involving and 
listening to residents – and allowing them to 
influence decision making. To help address these 
issues, we have reinstated our resident advisory 
group with new membership and a new name, 
CWH Tenant Voice (TV). 

This group has access to the CWH management 
team and Board, giving residents a stronger 
voice and helping us to include community 
perspectives and priorities in our decision 
making. The group meets once a month to 
review, discuss and provide guidance on 

Strengthening customer service

CWH policies and procedures that affect CWH 
residents. Currently, the group is planning a 
series of forums with 
other residents as part of 
engaging with the broader 
community and are 
driving the development 
of a new Community 
Impact Strategy. 

We thank all the residents 
who applied to be part of 
and are actively giving 
their time to CWH TV.

Garnet O’Neill, CWH TV

The CWH TV is glad to be a 
voice for tenants of City 
West, and we welcome this 
opportunity by City West to 
contribute and be involved in 
positive change for current 
and future residents. 
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Engaging with our customers  
and communities

Supporting residents  
to participate socially  
and economically
Our tenant satisfaction survey this year included 
questions to measure the personal wellbeing 
of our residents for the first time. Based on the 
Personal Wellbeing Index, this information will set 
an important baseline to help us quantify the impact 
we have on people’s lives. Overall the wellbeing 
reported by residents was strong, as measured by 
their satisfaction with how safe they feel and their 
standard of living. However, they had lower scores 
in relation to feeling part of their community – an 
issue we are working to address through ongoing 
community projects and engagement. 

CWH will continue to track progress against the 
personal wellbeing index, with a series of short 
questions administered at each stage of the residents 
lifecycle. For example, we now conduct visits with all 
new households six weeks after they first move in. We 
will also continue to monitor this through future tenant 
satisfaction surveys. This will help us to better gauge 
the impact that receiving safe, secure and affordable 
housing from CWH has on overall wellbeing. 

During the year, CWH set aside a brokerage fund 
to prevent people whose tenancies are at risk from 
becoming homeless. The funds are only used when 
the existing support system is unable to assist people, 
often being activated when support providers cannot 
cover the full cost of a service. This additional, ‘top-up’ 
funding is often the difference that enables people to 
remain in their homes.

Making places people  
are proud of 
This year, CWH has invested in several items for the 
community gardens, including sheds, which help to 
provide a space for all the tools, compost, seeds and 
gardening equipment.

As part of common area improvements, the asset 
team has also provided bike racks in a number of 
buildings, undertaken external painting on three and 
internal painting on five of our buildings and invested 
in renewing tiles in common area balconies in a further 
building. Feedback from residents has been positive.



26            CWH  2018 annual report

Engaging with our customers  
and communities

Contributing to socially inclusive communities 
CWH works on multiple projects to support, connect 
and revitalise the neighbourhoods in which we operate. 

During the year, CWH welcomed a socially responsible 
new tenant into the café space at our Exordium 
apartments, in the heart of the Green Square 
Community and Cultural Precinct. B U K U Café has 
a seasonal, produce-driven menu, supporting like-
minded local producers and growers.

The operators of B U K U have lived in the local Zetland 
community for more than four years and are passionate 
about working closely with our residents and the 
community. B U K U is committed to engaging City West 
Housing residents to strengthen the ‘community feel’ 
of the café by working collaboratively to deliver place 
making initiatives. 
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Engaging with our customers  
and communities

The Uptown Festival: How PUNS is contributing to socially 
inclusive communities 
The Pyrmont Ultimo Network of Services 
(PUNS) is a not for profit community group 
co-founded by CWH in March 2016. PUNS 
bring together organisations to jointly 
support the local communities in Ultimo 
and Pyrmont with programs and services. 

After much-needed community 
consultation, local people voiced their 
wish to see the Uptown Festival re-
launched, after a hiatus due to a lack 
of funding. The Uptown Festival is 
the perfect example of all that can be 
achieved when organisations come 
together with a shared aim. With more 
than 40 organisations working together, 
PUNS brought the Uptown Festival back 
to life in October 2017.

More than 1,500 people attended the free, 
day-long festival, with stalls representing 
35 community-based organisations and 
local businesses. In a wholly inclusive 
event, Auslan interpreters enabled 
those with sensory impairment to enjoy 
activities on the main stage and a diverse 
range of cultures and abilities were 
represented during the festival. 

Local Aboriginal Elder, Auntie Millie 
Ingram, led a welcome to country, 
joined by The Lord Mayor of Sydney, 
Clover Moore, Member for Sydney, Alex 
Greenwich, CWH Director, Wendy Field, 
and was also attended by City of Sydney 
Councillors Linda Scott and Jamie Parker.
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Engaging with our customers  
and communities

household mix 
As part of our contribution to delivering socially inclusive communities CWH attracts residents from a diverse 
range of cultural backgrounds, professions and household incomes.

Households fall into one of three different income bands. Income eligibility limits are revised annually in line with 
changes to the median household income for the Sydney Statistical Division (as reported by the Australian Bureau 
of Statistics), and household income is reviewed every six months. CWH maintains its own waiting list but also 
takes some applicants from the state wide social housing register. 

band

low

total household income

$ 42,300 - $67,600

june 2018

42%

band

very low

total household income

< $42,300

june 2018

33%

band

moderate

total household income

$ 67,601 - $101,400

june 2018

25%

Housing stress is when a household spends more than 30% of its gross household income on housing costs. CWH 
tenants are charged rent on a sliding scale at between 25-30% of their gross household income. Our income-based 
rent model ensures residents do not fall into housing stress and provides some flexibility for those households 
whose financial circumstances change to remain in our properties but with an adjusted rent, providing they still meet 
our income eligibility requirements. 

This year we saw an increase in the percentage of residents housed who are on very low incomes as a result of 
reviewing and adjusting income eligibility for each of our bands. The increase in our residents on very low incomes 
was also a result of existing residents retiring, experiencing periods of unemployment, taking parental leave 
or working less hours. In the coming year, we will continue with promotional efforts targeting specific service 
professions, including teachers, nurses and police, to attract more low to moderate income earners. This will help 
ensure we continue to deliver on our vision and mission, including contributing to diverse and inclusive communities.
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under their roof

Jerry’s story

After a 20-year relationship turned violent, Jerry escaped by fleeing 
his home. Eventually, his friends’ couch surfing favours ran out and, 
without family to fall back on, he was forced into homelessness. After 
two years on the street – sometimes staying in refuges or boarding 
houses where he felt unsafe, was often threatened and had no long-
term security – Jerry was considering suicide. 

Fast forward to 2018 and, since May this year, Jerry has been living 
in a CWH property. Jerry says that along with his trauma counsellor, 
CWH played a part in saving his life. Living in the development is a 
dream come true, giving him the space and security he needs to heal 
and look to a future that he now believes in.

Names have been changed in this case study to protect the privacy of our 
resident. Thank you for understanding.

howard’s story

Howard has been a Sydneysider since the 1980s and has always lived 
between Newtown and Kings Cross. Working as a security guard in 
the City of Sydney, he can sometimes be standing or on the go for a 
12-hour shift. Because of this he prefers to live locally to his work, 
and over the years has built up his support network and feels part of 
the community in the area. Security work is a young person’s game, 
so Howard has recently had to diversify, sometimes working in 
construction, other times as an exam supervisor. 

Living in a CWH apartment in North Eveleigh helps Howard to 
access his work and provides a safety net for any odd periods of 
unemployment. Settled in his apartment with his wife, who is a 
cleaner in the city, Howard is grateful that he won’t have to move 
when he retires in two years’ time. He will remain connected to his 
community – where he has lived and worked all his adult life – and 
close to his stepdaughters who are studying nearby. 



text

30            CWH  2018 annual report

Managing key relationships 

CASE STUDY

Fighting the stigma of ‘low-income housing’
When a friend suggested that Wendy consider 
affordable housing, she was put off by the stigma. 

“I was thinking, ‘that’s not going to happen, that’s 
not me.’ It seemed like something that people do 
when they’re down and out and there’s nothing else 
left to do.”

But Wendy was in trouble. When the stress of a 
severely disabled child ended her marriage, she was: 
“…out in the cold at age 45 with two young kids and 
two bigger kids, all of whom were very affected by the 
marriage break-up. I had no resources, and no family in 
Australia.”

Eventually I got to the point where I thought, 
I need to take responsibility for my children 
and do the right thing.”
Wendy applied for housing with CWH and was 
approved for a three-bedroom apartment in Pyrmont.

“The apartment has great views, great bones and it’s on 
a very edgy, urban block. All you can do in life is work 
with what you’ve got the best you can – and we’re in 
the process of doing that and making the apartment a 
home. City West are pretty much offering me stability 
and security for as long as my situation is what it is.”

“I want to put our message out there – it’s acceptable to 
struggle and to ask for help.”

Wendy at CWH TV meeting.

“
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Managing key relationships 

Building our Profile

Growth in online influence
As part of getting our message out we continued 

to grow our social media presence during the year, 

generating hundreds of conversations. Our most 

successful campaign in this year reached more 

than 51,000 people.  

In the coming year, we will continue to demonstrate 

our commitment to providing affordable rental 

housing, with a focus on how we help people on 

very low to moderate incomes to live and work 

locally in the City of Sydney.

We will be working to raise CWH’s profile through 

social media channels as well as our blog and 

newsletters and to tell the story of how what we do 

provides stability and support to people who have 

struggled to find safe, secure and affordable housing. 

Engaging with our stakeholders
In addition to increasing our online reach and 

influence we expanded our communication channels 

this year, introducing a CWH business newsletter 

to complement our quarterly resident newsletter. 

The business newsletter offers readers a broader, 

strategic overview of how CWH is contributing to the 

wider community, including current developments 

and partnerships and initiatives undertaken by 

CWH to enhance community inclusion and social 

cohesion. We set up the tenant advisory body 

CWH Tenant Voice, engaged with industry peaks, 

progressed partnerships with developers, liaised 

with our shareholders on proposed changes 

to our Constitution and launched our two new 

developments. 

356
Twitter followers

62k
Twitter impressions

12.3k
Website visitors

25.5k
Website page views

418
Facebook followers

7k
Facebook impressions 

269
LinkedIn followers

19k
LinkedIn impressions
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Developing partnerships that support our Vision and Mission
Availability of land suitable for affordable housing 
development is limited. In addition to our strong 
relationships with our existing partners such as 
the City of Sydney, we are actively seeking new 
partnerships to sustain continued growth. During the 
year, we commenced discussions with a number of 
potential developer partners, with a view to exploring 
opportunities to deliver affordable housing as part of 
integrated residential developments. 

CWH partnered with the Pyrmont Ultimo Network of 
Services to help deliver community events. 

CWH actively partnered with the NSW Nurses and 
Midwives Association to deliver presentations to 
nurses in St Vincent’s Hospital, Sydney Hospital and 
the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital about the availability 
of affordable housing. Similar presentations were also 
delivered to primary school teachers in local public 
schools and to Probationary Constables graduating 
from the Police Academy. 

Through the provision of a free community room, 
CWH supported TAFE during the year to deliver the 
outreach program AMEP (Adult Migrant English 
Program) for newly arrived migrants with access to 
English classes close to where they live, assisting with 
a more successful settlement into the community.

CWH identified the need for and made referrals to a 
range of programs including financial counselling,  
recidivism, homelessness prevention for at risk 
tenancies, mental health, youth mentoring and help 
finding a job. 

List of organisations that CWH connected 
tenants and applicants to: 

 » Mission Australia – Sydney Homelessness  
Early Intervention Service

 » Wesley Mission – Financial Counselling 
 » Pyrmont Cares 
 » Baptist Care 
 » Catholic Community Services
 » Flourish
 » Community Mental Health
 » Women’s & Girls Emergency Centre
 » KARI – Brighter Futures
 » WEAVE Youth and Community Services
 » Jewish House
 » Salvation Army
 » Oasis Housing
 » Community Restorative Centre
 » COACT employment service

CWH is keen to progress more meaningful 
partnerships with education and employment 
specialists to increase residents’ employability and 
help them maximise their income earning potential. 
We have held preliminary meetings with organisations 
that can support this goal and look forward to working 
with them in the coming year.
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Managing Key Relationships

influencing housing policy 
and practice
CWH seeks to increase its engagement with industry 
colleagues and provide input where relevant to 
housing policy and practice. 

This year, we became a member of the Committee 
for Sydney, joined the national community housing 
industry body, PowerHousing Australia, and attended 
and actively participated in events run by the 
Community Housing Industry Association NSW. 

We were also part of a panel talking about Beautiful 
Density at the 2018 NSW Affordable Housing 
Conference, for which we were a key sponsor. 

Effectively managing our 
suppliers and contractors
As part of our approach to managing our asset 
portfolio and delivering value for money we routinely 
test the market for key contracts, and tender for 
discrete remediation or property life cycle works. 
This year, we let three major upgrade contracts – 
for building rectification works, painting and lift 
upgrades – and we also engaged a mechanical 
services contractor for all buildings. Our asset team 
also established new formal contractor meetings and 
performance monitoring to ensure we continue to 
receive a value-for-money, quality service. 

Our Development team continued to oversee and 
monitor the progress of projects. With construction on 
Wentworth Street Glebe starting during the year, we 
commenced regular meetings with the builder and will 
be looking to engage a Clerk of Works for this project 
in the new financial year. A new Project Management 
Framework was also developed and approved along 
with a revised short form consultancy contract. In the 
new year the team will develop a consultant register 
for development projects.

Also, during the year, we changed our Information 
Communications Technology (ICT) services provider 
and embarked on a program of work to improve and 
enhance our ICT infrastructure, including the security 
of our systems and data. Next year we will focus on 
re-tendering for internal audit services.
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Supporting our people

Building organisational 
capacity
Late 2017, we farewelled the Head of Development, 
Steve De Pasquale, Asset Manager, Keith Casey and 
Tenancy Manager Christina Hough, after five, three 
years and 18 months of service to CWH respectively. 
Both Steve and Keith went into commercial roles with 
listed companies and Christina took up a role with 
another community housing provider. 

In their place, CWH appointed three excellent 
candidates: our new Head of Development, Lisa 
Sorrentino, a highly skilled residential development 
executive; our new Head of Assets, Ryan 
Rosenbaum, who brings a wealth of experience 
in asset management in the community housing 
and private sectors and our new Head of Housing 
Services Samantha Ngui who brings extensive NSW 
Government and non-government experience. With 
a new CFO appointed just before the start of the 
reporting year, CWH now has as a refreshed senior 
management team which is strong, skilled and highly 
competent. 

The team is working cohesively to support the 
company as it moves into its next stage  
of growth. 

Investing in our people
Our staff engagement survey conducted mid-way 
through the year revealed opportunities to improve 
accountability, standardise best practice and 
improve our systems and processes. In response, 
we continue to invest in improving the functionality 
of our tenancy and asset management systems, 
including reporting capability and enabling more 
detailed and timely tracking of our financial 
performance.  

In December 2017 we appointed a new ICT services 
provider; in May 2018, we upgraded our internet 
service and implemented a voice over IP telephone 
system. Both initiatives were focussed on 
improving services for staff and reducing ongoing 
operational costs.  

A new ICT Strategy developed during the year 
will inform further investment in our IT systems 
and infrastructure to both improve the way we 
communicate with our stakeholders and better 
support staff to do their job. A focus next year will 
be on implementing a new workflow tool to support 
our tenancy team.

To improve employee health and wellbeing, CWH 
conducted ergonomic assessments of everyone’s 
workstation and training to help our employees 
maintain ergonomic best practice and identify and 
mitigate any risk factors before they cause an injury.

We took time out during the year as a team, 
including participating in The Amazing Race in our 
local neighbourhood and celebrating key events 
such as International Women’s Day and Australia’s 
Biggest Morning Tea.

International Women’s Day celebrates the social, 
economic, cultural and political achievements of 
women and this year the day also marked a call to 
action for accelerating gender parity. 

72%
staff agree or strongly 

agree that they feel 
engaged and happy  

at work
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Supporting our people

Investing in our people
Our staff engagement survey conducted mid-way 
through the year revealed opportunities to improve 
accountability, standardise best practice and 
improve our systems and processes. In response, 
we continue to invest in improving the functionality 
of our tenancy and asset management systems, 
including reporting capability and enabling more 
detailed and timely tracking of our financial 
performance.  

In December 2017 we appointed a new ICT services 
provider; in May 2018, we upgraded our internet 
service and implemented a voice over IP telephone 
system. Both initiatives were focussed on 
improving services for staff and reducing ongoing 
operational costs.  

A new ICT Strategy developed during the year 
will inform further investment in our IT systems 
and infrastructure to both improve the way we 
communicate with our stakeholders and better 
support staff to do their job. A focus next year will 
be on implementing a new workflow tool to support 
our tenancy team.

To improve employee health and wellbeing, CWH 
conducted ergonomic assessments of everyone’s 
workstation and training to help our employees 
maintain ergonomic best practice and identify and 
mitigate any risk factors before they cause an injury.

We took time out during the year as a team, 
including participating in The Amazing Race in our 
local neighbourhood and celebrating key events 
such as International Women’s Day and Australia’s 
Biggest Morning Tea.

International Women’s Day celebrates the social, 
economic, cultural and political achievements of 
women and this year the day also marked a call to 
action for accelerating gender parity. 

This is particularly relevant to organisations like 
City West Housing that operate in the social services 
sector and have a predominantly female workforce. 
It is also relevant to the residents we house.  Our 
celebration recognised the important role we play in 
providing supports to the 65% of CWH households 
headed by women, many of them older, on their own 
or heading up single parent families. 

Our celebration of Australia’s biggest morning tea 
provided an opportunity for staff to bake, share a cup 
of tea and raise important funds for cancer research.

A focus on staff health, safety and well-being during 
the year saw CWH provide free flu vaccinations for 
staff, fresh fruit each week, access to an employee 
assistance program and the introduction of more 
flexible work practices. We also implemented 
mandatory on-line training in workplace health, 
safety and injury management, fire safety training 
in the office for all new starters and arranged 
access to duress alarms for staff in the field. 

Next year we will be rolling out First Aid training for 
our housing services, asset and development staff 
and appointing new First Aid officers.

The staff REDI system, which recognises and rewards 
staff performance and is linked to CWH’s Values, 
was also relaunched during the year along with a 
recognition program for Employee of the Month.

Focusing on continuous 
improvement
This year we reviewed and enhanced our 
governance systems and processes, including 
the way we report to our Board as well as what is 
reported.  A new Governance Compliance and Risk 
Management Policy was developed and approved.  
Financial and operational performance information 
provided to the Board was refreshed.  A new 
Business Plan was also introduced, linking our 
strategic priorities to detailed team work plans and 
individual staff performance agreements.

At an operational level the asset team developed 
a new Asset Management Policy and undertook 
significant work to update its Standard Operating 
Procedures. The housing services and finance 
teams updated income eligibility limits and 
reviewed and adjusted tenants’ rents. We reviewed 
and updated our Tenant Handbook and Complaints 
and Appeals procedures.  We also revised and 
adopted a new Eligibility and Allocations Policy 
and commissioned a detailed review of our rent 
policy and procedures, with a view to implementing 
changes in the new financial year.   

A focus on improving our communications led to 
the creation of a new business newsletter and a 
revamp of our newsletter for residents. We also 
commenced work on a new Community Impact 
Strategy to be finalised in late 2018, following 
consultation with our CWH Tenant Voice group. 
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Delivering on our values

The CWH Code of Conduct and Ethics was refreshed in August 2017 and has been actively 
promoted amongst all current and new staff.  To complement this a revised Values Statement 
has been prepared and integrated in individual staff performance development plans.

2018/19 will see a continued focus on accountability and enhancing customer service.
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Keeping essential services workers in Sydney

When high school English teacher Victor realised he 
and his wife could no longer afford to live where they 
worked, he had a moment where he considered going 
into private education. 

“I could have gone into the private system where the 
pay is potentially higher, but I’ve made an ethical 
choice not to,” Victor says.

For 12 years, Victor and his family had watched as 
their inner-city rents climbed steadily upwards.

“Year upon year, there were increases [in rent], but 
there was no apparent reason why. It was almost as 
though that was just an automatic increase built in to 
the system; it just kept climbing and all that we were 
told was that it was in line with expectations for the 
area. Our rent skyrocketed within a decade of us living 
there,” Victor explained.

By chance, he came across an article on affordable 
housing.

“There was a story about Clover Moore and how 
City of Sydney were sort of engaging in this push for 
affordable housing. It also said the incentive is for 
teachers and essential workers like police, teachers, 
ambulance workers and so on,” Victor recalled. 

It was the light at the end of the tunnel. 

Victor, his wife and their 15-year-old son now live in a 
two-bedroom unit on the fifth floor of a CWH building, 
which has a large balcony, a modern design, gas 
facilities and a great view. Victor’s son has his own 
bedroom, which will be an important step for his 
independence as a young man. But the most 
significant feature of their new home is the new and 
affordable rental payment. 

The rent is affordable 
because it’s calculated  
at 30% of our combined 
income, which is a fair way 
of doing it
Victor says. 

For the first time in a long time, Victor feels secure in his rental situation.
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Meet the CWH management team

MICHELLE BARRON
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Responsible for CWH’s financial 
management, reporting and 
compliance as well as managing IT 
and Human Resources.

LEONIE KING
CWH CEO

The Chief Executive responsible for overall 
management of City West Housing’s 
operations and the development and 
execution of business strategy

LISA SORRENTINO
HEAD OF DEVELOPMENT

Responsible for driving and 
delivering all phases of property 
development from acquisition 
through to final delivery to increase 
affordable rental housing supply  
in Sydney.  

HELENA PENNINGTON
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Providing executive support to 
the CEO and management team, 
Helena is responsible for the daily 
administration of the office. She 
also manages the Complaints and 
Appeals process.
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Meet the CWH management team

RENÉ MCKENZIE-LOW
HEAD OF COMMUNITY AND  
EXTERNAL ENGAGEMENT

Responsible for overseeing CWH’s 
community engagement activities 
and managing internal and external 
stakeholder communications.

SAM NGUI
HEAD OF HOUSING SERVICES

Responsible for overseeing the 
delivery of quality services to 
residents, including assessing  
applications, allocating properties 
and managing tenancies.

RYAN ROSENBAUM
HEAD OF ASSETS

Responsible for the development 
and implementation of CWH’s Asset 
Management Plan. This includes 
deploying, operating, maintaining and 
upgrading all property assets in a cost 
effective manner.

CWH is a not-for-profit, community based organisation 
with an independent Board of Directors.
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meet the board of directors

MIKE ROLLO 
CHAIR

Appointed as a Director in August 
2010, and Chair since January 2017, 
Mike has 30 years’ experience in 
project management and commercial 
transaction management in 
the property development and 
engineering infrastructure sectors. 

WENDY FIELD
Appointed as a Director in December 
2015, Wendy has 25 years’ 
experience in supporting improved 
outcomes for children and families.

Resigned 15/2/2018

REBECCA RICHARDSON
Appointed as a Director in April 2017, 
Rebecca is the Managing Director 
of Urbanista and is committed to 
building  sustainable dynamic, 
healthy communities that improve 
housing outcomes are socially, 
environmentally and economically 
sustainable.

CWH’s focus is growing our portfolio to help meet the ongoing need for 
affordable rental housing. The professionalism commitment and the efforts 
of our expert Board help the CWH team to deliver affordable rental housing 
for the local community. 
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meet the board of directors

TIM AMBLER
Appointed as a Director in December 
2015, Tim has 30 years’ experience in 
the development, funds management 
and construction arenas. 

CLIFF HAYNES
Appointed as a Director in February 
2017, Cliff has extensive experience 
at the executive level of state 
and local government and in the 
community housing sector.

CLARE PETRE
Appointed as a Director in December 
2015, Clare was previously Energy 
& Water Ombudsman NSW, and 
has served on a range of NSW 
and Commonwealth Government 
advisory bodies and the Boards of 
several community groups.

MARCIA DOHENY
Appointed as a Director in April 
2017, Marcia’s areas of expertise 
include planning and environment 
developed through her work in 
private practice supporting state and 
local government projects. 

CWH’s development pipeline 
will see us nearly double our 
affordable rental housing 
apartment numbers by 2023
Leonie King, CWH CEO 
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directors’ report
For the year ended 30 june 2018

The Directors of City West Housing Pty Ltd present 
their report on the company for the year ended 30 
June 2018.

Board of Directors
At 30 June 2018 there were six Directors on the Board 
of City West Housing Pty Ltd. The Board met on 7 
occasions during the period.

The names of each person who has been a director 
during the year and to the date of this report are:

Mike Rollo appointed 26 August 2010, re-appointed 
October 2013, re-appointed December 2015.

Clare Petre appointed 3 December 2015.

Tim Ambler appointed 3 December 2015.

Cliff Haynes appointed 28 February 2017.

Marcia Doheny appointed 4 April 2017.

Rebecca Richardson appointed 4 April 2017.

Wendy Field appointed 3 December 2015 and resigned 
15 February 2018.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the company during the 
course of the financial year were the provision and 
management of affordable rental properties in the 
local government area of the City of Sydney. There 
was no significant change in the company’s activities 
during the year.

Review of Operations
The surplus for the year ended 30 June 2018 was 
$30,094,310 (2017: $55,220,043). 

During the year the company managed a portfolio 
of 728 apartments, selling 4 strata apartments in 
buildings not owned by the company. 

At 30 June 2018 the total number of apartments in 
the portfolio was 724. The construction of 99 units 
in Wentworth Street, Glebe commenced during the 
financial year and is due to complete in 2019.

The company acknowledges the support of our 
Ordinary and Preference Shareholders.

Dividends
The company is a not for profit organisation and is 
prevented by its constitution from paying dividends.
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Information on Directors

MIKE ROLLO 
Chair

Qualifications

Bachelor of Engineering (Civil); Master of Business 
Administration; Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors; Fellow of the Institution of 
Engineers Australia; Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Management    

Expertise

35 years’ experience in project management and 
commercial transaction management in the property 
development and engineering infrastructure sectors

Background

Chief Risk Officer, Cimic Group Limited, Director of 
WatermanBurns Associates Pty Ltd

Committee Membership

Chair Appeals

CLARE PETRE 
Director

Qualifications

Bachelor Social Studies; Diploma of Criminology; 
M.Sc. Social Administration

Expertise

Previous Energy & Water Ombudsman NSW; former 
Senior Assistant Commonwealth Ombudsman; former 
manager Community Services Commission NSW

Background

Board member, Energy Consumers Australia; Chair, 
Code of Conduct Committee for the Australian 
Council for International Development, Deputy 
Chair Asylum Seekers Centre, Customer Advocate 
NAB, Commissioner Greyhound Welfare & Integrity 
Commission

Committee Membership

Development & Asset Management  and Chair 
Community Engagement & Tenancy
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TIM AMBLER 
Director

Qualifications

B.Econ (Syd), GAICD

Expertise

30 years’ experience in the development, funds 
management and construction arenas

Background

Executive Director, Archerfield Capital Partners; 
former Chief Operating Officer for Real Estate 
Development, Valad Property Group; former GM 
southern region, Walter Construction Group

Committee Membership

Audit and Risk and Chair Development & Asset 
Management

CLIFF HAYNES 
Director

Qualifications

Bachelor of Commerce (Merit); Fellow & Life Member 
Local Government Professionals Australia (FLGPA); 
Fellow, Australian Society of Certified Practising 
Accountants (FCPA); Member, Institute of Public 
Administration, Australia 

Expertise

Executive roles in State and Local Governments. 
Experienced Company Director

Background

Non-executive Director. Former roles at the Australian 
Foundation for Disability, Department of Family and 
Community Services, Department of Human Services, 
Housing NSW

Committee Membership

Community Engagement & Tenancy and Chair Audit 
and Risk
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MARCIA DOHENY 
Director 

Qualifications

BA (USyd), LLB (USyd), GAICD

Expertise

Law, Governance, Urban Planning and Development

Background

Senior Executive roles with NSW Government and City 
of Sydney Council. Other directorships: SEDA College, 
Independent member of Risk & Audit committees for 
NSW Law Enforcement Conduct Commission, NSW 
Aboriginal Land Council and Lane Cove Council

Committee Membership

Appeals, Audit & Risk and Development & Asset 
Management

REBECCA RICHARDSON 
Director 

Qualifications

Bach Town Planning (UNSW); Dip Law (LPAB/USyd), 
GDip Tourism Management (UTS); Financial Analysis 
Certificate (UTS); GAICD 

Expertise

Planning, Housing, Property, Law, Management, & 
Financial Analysis; Experienced Company Director

Background

Managing Director of planning & strategy firm, 
Urbanista Australia, with experience in urban 
renewal, housing, complex projects, financial 
analysis, planning and legislative reform, corporate 
governance. Other directorships: Beyond Bank 
Australia and Halstead Press Pty Ltd

Committee Membership

Development & Asset Management and Community 
Engagement & Tenancy 
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WENDY FIELD 
Director (until 15 February 2018)

Qualifications

Bachelor Social Sciences; Bachelor in social work; 
Certificate in Executive Management

Expertise

25 years’ experience in supporting improved 
outcomes for children and families

Background

Head of Policy, Programs and Volunteering The Smith 
Family; number of positions within the Department of 
Family and Community Services

Committee Membership

Chair Community Engagement & Tenancy (until 15 
February 2018)
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Meetings of Directors
During the financial year, seven meetings of directors were held. Attendances by each director were as follows:

DIRECTORS’ MEETING
AUDIT AND  

RISK COMMITTEE
DEVELOPMENT AND 
ASSET COMMITTEE

COMMUNITY 
ENGAGEMENT AND 

TENANCY COMMITTEE

Mike Rollo

Clare Petre

Tim Ambler

Cliff Haynes

Marcia Doheny

Rebecca Richardson

Wendy Field

eligible to attend

attended

7

7

7

7

6

6

4 -

3 1

4

2

3

5

4

5

5

4

7

7

7

7

7

7

5 2

4 1

4

2

4

5

5

5

5

5

The Appeals Committee was not required to hold a 
meeting during the financial year. 
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Shareholders
The company is authorised to issue two classes of 
shares: ordinary shares and redeemable preference 
shares. The following table shows City West Housing’s 
current shareholders.

CURRENT SHAREHOLDERS

Ordinary shareholders

 » NSW Minister for Social Housing
 » NSW Treasurer

Preference shareholders

 » Australian Chinese Community Association of NSW Inc.
 » Churches Housing Incorporated
 » City of Sydney
 » Lend Lease Development Pty Ltd
 » Shelter NSW Incorporated
 » The Star Pty Ltd
 » St George Bank Ltd
 » The Uniting Church in Australia Property Trust (NSW)
 » Australand Corporation (NSW) Pty Ltd
 » Mirvac Projects Pty Ltd

SHAREHOLDERS REDEEMED DURING THE YEAR

 » Bridge Housing Ltd
 » NSW Federation of Housing Association Ltd  

(CHIA NSW)

Environmental Regulation
The company’s operations are not regulated by any 
significant environmental regulation under a law of 
the Commonwealth or a state or territory of Australia.

Change in State of Affairs
During the financial year there was no significant 
change in the state of affairs of the company. 

Subsequent Events
There has not been any matter or circumstance, other 
than that referred to in the accounts or notes thereto, 
that has arisen since the end of the financial year, 
that has significantly affected, or may significantly 
affect, the company’s operations, the results of those 
operations, or the company’s state of affairs in financial 
years after the financial year ended 30 June 2018.

Likely Developments and Expected Results of 
Operations in Future Years
Likely developments in the entity’s operation in future 
financial years are not expected to significantly affect 
the expected results of the company.

Indemnities
The company has paid premiums to insure Directors 
under a Directors and Officers policy. The company 
has given a Deed of Access, Indemnity and Insurance 
to each Director. No other indemnities were provided 
to any Officer, Director or the Auditors. 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
The Auditor’s Independence Declaration for the year 
ended 30 June 2018 has been received and can be 
found on page 54 of the financial report.

This report is signed in accordance with a resolution 
of the Directors made pursuant to section 298(2) of 
the Corporations Act 2001.

Mike Rollo

Director

Dated this 27th day of September 2018
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Level 15, 1 Margaret Street, Sydney NSW 2000 | GPO Box 12, Sydney NSW 2001 | t 02 9275 7101 | f 02 9275 7179 | e mail@audit.nsw.gov.au | audit.nsw.gov.au

 

 
 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
City West Housing Pty Ltd  

 

To Members of the New South Wales Parliament and Members of City West Housing Pty Ltd 

Opinion 
I have audited the accompanying financial report of City West Housing Pty Ltd (the Company), which 
comprises, the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2018, the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2018, Statement of Changes in 
Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a Summary of 
Accounting Policies and other explanatory information, and the Directors’ Declaration. 

In my opinion, the financial report: 

• is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
- giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and its 

performance for the year ended on that date 
- complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001 

• is in accordance with section 41B of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 (PF&A Act) and the 
Public Finance and Audit Regulation 2015. 

 

My opinion should be read in conjunction with the rest of this report. 

Basis for Opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under the 
standards are described in the ‘Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report’ section 
of my report. 

I am independent of the Company in accordance with the requirements of the: 

• Australian Auditing Standards 
• Corporations Act 2001 
• Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 ‘Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants’ (APES 110). 
 

I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with APES 110. 

Parliament promotes independence by ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office of New 
South Wales are not compromised in their roles by: 

• providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an Auditor-
General 

• mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies 
• precluding the Auditor-General from providing non-audit services. 
 

I confirm the independence declaration, required by the Corporations Act 2001, provided to the 
directors of the Company on 25 September 2018, would be in the same terms if provided to the 
directors as at the time of this Independent Auditor’s Report. 

I believe the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
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Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, the PF&A Act, the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 
My objectives are to: 

• obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• issue an Independent Auditor’s Report including my opinion. 
 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect material misstatements. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. Misstatements are considered material if, individually or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions users take 
based on the financial report. 

A description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and 
Assurance Standards Board website at: www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf. The 
description forms part of my auditor’s report. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

• that the Company carried out its activities effectively, efficiently and economically 
• about the security and controls over the electronic publication of the audited financial report on 

any website where it may be presented 
• about any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the financial report. 
 

 

 

 

Karen Taylor 
Director, Financial Audit Services 

28 September 2018 
SYDNEY 
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To the Directors  
City West Housing Pty Ltd 
 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

 

As auditor for the audit of the financial statements of City West Housing Pty Ltd for the year ended 
30 June 2018, I declare, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions 
of: 

• the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit 
• any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 
 

 

 

 
Karen Taylor  
Director, Financial Audit Services  
 

25 September 2018  
SYDNEY 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Notes 2018 2017
REVENUE $ ’000 $ ’000

Revenue 2  41,370  64,836 
Other income 2  6,196  5,573 
Employee benefits expense 3 (2,315) (2,040)
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3 (9,653) (6,476)
Rental management expenses 3 (4,142) (5,039)
Sundry expenses 3 (1,797) (1,742)
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 3  435  108 

NET SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR  30,094  55,220 

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Net surplus for the year  30,094  55,220 
Gain/(Loss) on revaluation or devaluation of property, plant & equipment 6 (17,525)  16,643 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  12,569  71,863 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 june 2018

Notes 2018 2017
ASSETS $ ’000 $ ’000

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4  215,527  161,227 
Receivables 5  19,089  35,941 
Total current assets  234,616  197,168 

Non current assets
Property, plant and equipment 6  447,098  471,014 
Intangibles 7  205  243 
Total non current assets  447,303  471,257 

TOTAL ASSETS  681,919  668,425 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 8  2,175  1,246 
Employee provisions 9  103  81 
Total current liabilities  2,278  1,327 

Non current liabilities
Employee provisions 9 -  26 
Total non-current liabilities -  26 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,278  1,353 

NET ASSETS  679,641  667,072 

EQUITY
Retained surplus  413,851  383,757 
Asset revaluation reserve  265,790  283,315 

TOTAL EQUITY  679,641  667,072 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 june 2018

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Notes
RETAINED 
SURPLUS

REVALUATION 
SURPLUS TOTAL 

$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

Balance at 1 July 2016  328,537  266,672  595,209 
Comprehensive income
Surplus for the year  55,220  55,220 
Other comprehensive income
Net fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets
Gains on revaluation of land and buildings 6  16,643  16,643 
Total other comprehensive income -  16,643  16,643 
Total comprehensive income for the year  55,220  16,643  71,863 

Balance at 30 June 2017  383,757  283,315  667,072 

Balance at 1 July 2017  383,757  283,315  667,072 
Surplus for the year  30,094  30,094 
Other comprehensive income
Net fair value losses on available-for-sale financial assets -
Devaluation of land (4,304) (4,304)
Devaluation of buildings (13,221) (13,221)
Total other comprehensive income - (17,525) (17,525)

Total comprehensive income for the year  30,094 (17,525)  12,569 

Balance at 30 June 2018  413,851  265,790  679,641 
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statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Notes 2018 2017

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ ’000 $ ’000

Receipts from contributions, rental and other  60,100  33,593 
Payments to suppliers (8,137) (8,969)
Interest received  3,874  3,469 
Net cash flows from operating activities 15  55,837  28,093 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payment for property, plant and equipment (4,794) (1,937)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  3,257  1,737 
Net cash flows from investing activities (1,537) (200)

Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  54,300  27,893 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  161,227  133,334 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 4  215,527  161,227 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

STATEMENT OF REPORTING ENTITY
The company’s principal activity in the course of the financial year was the provision and management of 
residential properties in Ultimo/Pyrmont, Eveleigh and Green Square. The company’s registered address at the 
date of these Statements is 2/56 Harris Street, Pyrmont 2009. 

Note 1  
Summary of Accounting Policies

a) Basis of preparation 

The Financial Statements are general-purpose 
financial statements prepared on a going 
concern basis in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards (which include Australian 
Accounting Interpretations), the Public Finance 
and Audit Act 1983 and Regulation and the 
Corporations Act 2001.

The Financial Statements are presented in 
Australian dollars and all values are rounded to 
the nearest thousand dollars. 

Property, plant and equipment and financial 
assets at “fair value through profit or loss” 
are measured at fair value. Other financial 
statement items are prepared in accordance 
with the historical cost convention. 

Judgements, key assumptions and estimations 
that management has made are disclosed in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements.

 

b) Statement of Compliance 

The Financial Statements have been prepared 
on an accruals basis and are based on historical 
costs, modified where applicable by the 
measurement at fair value of selected non 
current assets. The Financial Statements 
and notes comply with Australian Accounting 
Standards which include Australian Accounting 
Interpretations, some of which contain 
requirements specific for not-for-profit entities 
that are inconsistent with IFRS requirements. 
Accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of these financial statements are presented 
below and have been consistently applied 
unless otherwise stated. 

c) Income Tax 

The Company has been endorsed as an Income 
Tax Exempt Charitable Entity under Subdivision 
50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

d) Property, Plant and Equipment 

1) Acquisition of assets 

The cost method of accounting is used for the 
initial recording of all acquisitions of assets 
controlled by the company. Cost is the amount 
of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair 
value of the other consideration given to 
acquire the asset at the time of its acquisition or 
construction or, where applicable the amount 
attributed to that asset when initially recognised 
in accordance with the requirements of other 
Australian Accounting Standards. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate 
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 
that future economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the company and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All repairs 
and maintenance are recognised as expenses 
in profit or loss in the financial period in which 
they are incurred. 

Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal 
consideration, are initially recognised at their 
fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset 
could be exchanged between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

Where payment for an asset is deferred beyond 
normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price 
equivalent, i.e. deferred payment amount is 
effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate. 

2) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
Land is not a depreciable asset. Depreciation 
is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the asset as follows: 

 » Buildings – over 40 years 
 » Fixtures and Fittings related to buildings - 

from 5 to 25 years 
 » Office Equipment – from 3 to 7 years 

3) Capitalisation thresholds 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets costing $1,000 and above individually 
are capitalised. 

4) Revaluation of property plant and 
equipment 

Physical non-current assets are valued at fair 
value in accordance with AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement and AASB 116 Property, Plant 
and Equipment. 

Property, plant and equipment is measured 
on an existing use basis, where there are 
no feasible alternative uses in the existing 
natural, legal, financial and socio-political 
environment. However, in the limited 
circumstances where there are feasible 
alternative uses, assets are valued at their 
highest and best use. 

Fair value of land and buildings is determined 
based on the best available market evidence, 
including current market selling prices for 
the same or similar assets. Where there is no 
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

available market evidence, the asset’s fair 
value is measured at its market buying price, 
the best indicator of which is depreciated 
replacement cost. 

The company revalues land and buildings 
at least every three years or with sufficient 
regularity to ensure that the carrying amount 
of each asset in the classes do not differ 
materially from its fair value at reporting date. 
A revaluation was completed as at 30 June 2018 
and was based on an independent assessment.

Non-specialised assets with short useful lives 
are measured at depreciated historical cost, as 
a surrogate for fair value.

When revaluing non-current assets by 
reference to current prices for assets newer 
than those being revalued (adjusted to reflect 
the present condition of the assets), the 
gross amount and the related accumulated 
depreciation are separately restated.

For other assets, any balances of accumulated 
depreciation at the revaluation date in respect 
of those assets are credited to the asset 
accounts to which they relate. The net asset 
accounts are then increased or decreased by 
the revaluation increments or decrements.

Revaluation increments are credited directly 
to the asset revaluation reserve, except that, 
to the extent that an increment reverses a 
revaluation decrement in respect of that class 

of asset previously recognised as an expense in 
the surplus/deficit, the increment is recognised 
immediately as revenue in the net result.

Revaluation decrements are recognised 
immediately as expenses in the net result, 
except that, to the extent that a credit balance 
exists in the asset revaluation reserve in 
respect of the same class of assets, they 
are debited directly to the asset revaluation 
reserve.

As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation 
increments and decrements are offset against 
one another within a class of non-current 
assets, but not otherwise.

Where an asset that has previously been 
revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining 
in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of 
that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.

5) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

As a not-for-profit entity with no cash 
generating units, the company is effectively 
exempted from AASB 136 Impairment of Assets 
and impairment testing. This is because AASB 
136 modifies the recoverable amount test to 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost. This means 
that, for an asset already measured at fair 
value, impairment can only arise if selling costs 
are material. Selling costs are regarded as 
immaterial. 
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

6) Maintenance

Day to day servicing costs or maintenance are 
charged as expenses as incurred, except where 
they relate to the replacement of a part or 
component of an asset, in which case the costs 
are capitalised and depreciated.

e) Leases

Lease payments under operating leases, where 
substantially all the risks and benefits remain 
with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the 
periods in which they are incurred. The company 
has not entered into any finance leases.

f) Employee Benefits and Other Provisions

1) Salaries and wages, annual leave and on 
costs

Liabilities for salaries and wages (including 
non-monetary benefits) and annual leave that 
are due to be settled within 12 months of the 
reporting date are recognised and measured in 
respect of employees’ services up to the end of 
the period in which the employees render the 
service at undiscounted amounts based on the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled. Consideration is given to expected 
future salary levels and periods of service.

Long-term annual leave that is not expected 
to be taken within twelve months is measured 
at present value in accordance with AASB 
119 Employee Benefits. Market yields on 
government bonds at reporting date are used 

to discount long-term annual leave. These 
obligations are presented as current liabilities 
in the Statement of Financial Position if the 
entity does not have an unconditional right to 
delay settlement for at least twelve months 
after reporting date regardless of when 
settlement is expected to occur.

The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, 
workers’ compensation, insurance premiums 
and fringe benefits tax, which are consequential 
to employment, are recognised as liabilities and 
expenses where the employee benefits to which 
they relate have been recognised.

Termination benefits are payable within 12 
months of the termination benefits.

2) Long service leave and superannuation

Provisions made in respect of long service leave 
and other employee entitlements, which are not 
expected to be settled within 12 months, are 
measured at the present value of the estimated 
future cash outflows to be made by the company 
in respect of services provided by employees 
up to reporting date. Rates used to calculate 
the present value are Reserve Bank indicator 
mid-rates for Commonwealth Bonds as at year 
end. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service.

The company has no unfunded superannuation 
liability and has no employees in defined 
benefit schemes.
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

g) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration or contribution received or 
receivable. Additional comments regarding 
the accounting policies for the recognition of 
income are discussed below.

1) Rental revenue
Rental revenue is recognised on an accruals 
basis on the first day of the rental period. 

2) Grants and contributions
Non-reciprocal grant revenue is recognised in 
profit or loss when the company obtains control 
of the grant and it is probable that the economic 
benefits gained from the grant will flow to the 
company and the amount of the grant can be 
measured reliably. 

If conditions are attached to the grant which 
must be satisfied before it is eligible to receive 
the contribution, the recognition of the grant as 
revenue will be deferred until those conditions 
are satisfied.

Developer contributions are recognised when 
either received or receivable by the company or 
trustee government intermediary.

City West Housing Pty Ltd receives non-
reciprocal contributions of assets from other 
parties for zero or a nominal value. These 
assets are recognised at fair value on the date 
of acquisition in the statement of financial 
position, with a corresponding amount of 
income recognised in the statement of profit or 

loss and other comprehensive income.

3) Investment revenue

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective 
interest method as set out in AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

h) Receivables

Accounts receivable comprise rents owing from 
tenants. These amounts are due within 14 days 
and no interest is applicable to outstanding 
amounts. Bad debts are assessed annually 
and written off. An allowance for impairment 
is recognised where there is evidence the 
receivable is not recoverable.

Development contributions received on behalf of 
City West Housing by the Department of Planning 
and Environment (DPE) are also included. All 
development contributions are taken up as 
income when the monies are received by DPE in 
a trust account. Funds are regularly requested to 
be paid across to the company.

These financial assets are recognised initially 
at fair value, usually based on the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method. Changes are recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income 
when impaired, derecognised or through the 
amortisation process. Short term receivables 
with no stated interest rate are measured at 
the original invoice amount where the effect of 
discounting is immaterial. 
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

i) Payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods 
and services provided to the company and other 
amounts. Payables are recognised initially at 
fair value, usually based on the transaction 
cost or face value. Subsequent measurement 
is at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Short-term payables with no stated 
interest rate are measured at original invoice 
amount where the effect of discounting is 
immaterial. Payables are recognised for amounts 
to be paid in the future for goods and services 
received, whether or not billed to the company.

j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on 
hand, deposits held at call with banks, other 
short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of 4 months or less.

k) Insurance

The Company’s insurance activities are 
conducted through the NSW Treasury 
Managed Fund Scheme of self insurance for 
Government agencies. The expense (premium) 
is determined by the Fund Manager based on 
past claim.

l) Accounting for Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Income, expenses and assets are recognised net 
of the amount of GST, except that the amount 
of GST incurred by the company as a purchaser 
that is not recoverable from the Australian 

Taxation Office is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item 
of expense and receivables and payables are 
stated with the amount of GST included.

Cash flows are included in the statement of 
cash flows on a gross basis. However, the GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing 
and financing activities which is recoverable 
from, or payable to, the Australian Taxation 
Office are classified as operating cash flows.

m) Intangible Assets

The Company recognises intangible assets only 
if it is probable that future economic benefits 
will flow to the Company and the cost of the 
asset can be measured reliably. The useful lives 
of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. 
Intangible assets are measured at cost and are 
amortised using the straight line method over a 
period of 5 years.

n) Other Financial Assets

Investments are initially recognized at fair 
value plus, in the case of investments not at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs. 
The entity determines the classification of its 
financial assets after initial recognition and, 
when allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates 
this at each financial year end.

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturity that 
the entity has the positive intention and ability 
to hold to maturity are classified as ‘held-to-
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notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018

Note 1    Summary of Accounting Policies

maturity’. These investments are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. Changes are recognised in the net 
result for the year when impaired, derecognised 
or through the amortisation process.

Held-to-maturity investments consist of short-
term deposits with maturity profiles of between 
90 to 180 days.

o) Impairment of Financial Assets

All financial assets, except those measured at 
fair value through profit and loss, are subject to 
an annual review for impairment. An allowance 
for impairment is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Company will not be 
able to collect all amounts due.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, 
the amount of the allowance is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the effective interest rate. The 
amount of the impairment loss is recognised in 
the net result for the year.

Any reversals of impairment losses are reversed 
through the net result for the year, where there 
is objective evidence. Reversals of impairment 
losses of financial assets carried at amortised 
cost cannot result in a carrying amount that 
exceeds what the carrying amount would have 
been had there not been an impairment loss.

p) Equity and Reserves

1) Asset revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of property, plant & equipment. This accords 
with the company’s policy on the revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment as discussed in 
note 1(d)(4).

2) Retained surplus

The category ‘Retained Surplus’ includes all 
current and prior period retained funds.

q) Comparative Information

Except when an Australian Accounting Standard 
permits or requires otherwise, comparative 
information is disclosed in respect of the 
previous period for all amounts reported in the 
financial statements.

r) Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

The Directors evaluate estimates and 
judgments incorporated into the financial 
report based on historical knowledge and 
best available current information. Estimates 
assume a reasonable expectation of future 
events and based on current trends and 
economic data, obtained both externally and 
within the company.

For the 2018 financial year the Directors made 
an estimate of the value of fixed assets based 
on independent advice from a qualified valuer. 
No other key estimates and judgements are 
made in the financial report.
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Note 2    revenue and other income
2018 2017

REVENUE  $ ’000 $ ’000

Residential and commercial developer contributions in City of Sydney  31,133  54,863 
Rental income     10,237  9,973 

 41,370  64,836 

City West Housing Pty Ltd received developer contributions levied by the City of 
Sydney on developers in Pyrmont/Ultimo and Green Square for the purpose of 
creating affordable housing in the local government area.

OTHER INCOME
Commonwealth National Rental Affordability Scheme Incentive  1,649  1,925 
Interest revenue  4,399  3,541 
Water usage revenue  148  107 

 6,196  5,573 

TOTAL REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME  47,566  70,409 
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Note 3    Expenses
2018 2017

EXPENSES  $ ’000 $ ’000

Rental management expenses  
repairs and maintenance  2,021  2,716 
council and water rates  1,292  761 
other  829  1,562 
Total rental management expense  4,142 5,039 

Employee benefits expense

employee related expenses  2,748  2,455 

amounts transferred to capital (433) (415)

Net employee related expense  2,315  2,040 

Depreciation and amortisation
land and buildings  8,708  5,550 
furniture and fittings  858  893 
office equipment  30 -
software  57  33 
Total depreciation and amortisation  9,653  6,476 

Sundry expenses
sundry expenses  159 - 
furniture and fittings (63)  116 
office equipment  1,689  1,615 
software  12  11 
Total Sundry expenses  1,797  1,742 

TOTAL EXPENSES  17,906   15,297 

GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL  
Gain/(Loss) on disposal of property, plant & equipment   435  108
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Notes 4 and 5
2018 2017

NOTE 4 - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ ’000 $ ’000

Cash at bank and in hand  1,736  115 
11am deposits at call  3,999  3,677 
Term deposits  209,792  157,434 

 215,527  161,227

Refer to Note 16 for details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
arising from financial instruments.

NOTE 5 - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Current

Accounts receivable  18,936  35,885 
Provision for doubtful debts (85) (149)

 18,851  35,737 
Other receivables

Prepayments  66  62 
Goods & Services Tax (GST) recoverable  172  142 
Total trade and other receivables  19,089  35,941 

Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including financial 
assets that are either past due or impaired are disclosed in Note 16.

Provision for doubtful debts $ ’000
Movement in the provision for doubtful debts is as follows:

Provision for doubtful debts as at 1 July 2016  33
Charge for the year  116 
Written off -
Provision for doubtful debts as at 30 June 2017  149 
Decrease in allowance for impairment (64)
Written off -
Provision for doubtful debts as at 30 June 2018  85
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Note 6    Property, Plant and Equipment
2018 2017

LAND AND BUILDINGS $ ’000 $ ’000

Freehold land at fair value:  227,605  233,168 
Total land  227,605  233,168 

Buildings at fair value:  204,819  228,296 
Total buildings  204,819  228,296 

Total land and buildings  432,424   461,464  

FIXTURES & FITTINGS
Fixtures & fittings:
At cost  15,394  14,863 
Less accumulated depreciation (8,537) (7,689)

 6,857  7,174 

BUILDINGS UNDER CONSTRUCTION AT COST
Buildings under construction  7,731  2,316 

 7,731  2,316 

OFFICE EQUIPMENT
Office equipment  268  238 
Less accumulated depreciation (182) (178)

 86  60 

TOTAL PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  447,098  471,014 
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Note 6    Property, Plant and Equipment

a)  The company practice is to commission an 
independent valuation of land and buildings 
every three years and in the interim years, 
commission an updated valuation to ensure 
that the carrying amount of each asset does not 
differ from its fair value at reporting date.

b)  For the 2018 financial year the directors 
requested a new valuation be performed 
earlier than the scheduled 2019 due to the 
changes in the property market and further 
consideration of the restrictions on a number of 
the properties. The freehold land and buildings 
were independently valued at 30 June 2018 
by Civic MJD.  The valuation resulted in a 
devaluation of $17,524,761 being recognised in 
the revaluation reserve for the year ended 30 
June 2018.

c)  Major building defect works may be carried out 
on a building with a current estimated value 
of between $3,000,000 and $4,000,000. The 
company is proceeding with litigation for the 
recovery of any monies that may be expended.

d)  Buildings are depreciated throughout the year. 
At year end, as part of the revaluation, the 
depreciation is reversed in the balance sheet to 
the asset and credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve.

MOVEMENTS IN CARRYING AMOUNTS
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property,  
plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of  
the current financial year:

LAND BUILDINGS
FIXTURES  

& FITTINGS
BUILDINGS UNDER 

CONSTRUCTION
OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT TOTAL
$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year  229,250  222,737  7,778  837  54  460,656 
Additions at cost -  315  1,479  30  1,824 
Disposals (830) (786) (50) - - (1,666)
Revaluations  4,748  11,895 - - -  16,643 
Depreciation expense - (5,550) (869) - (24) (6,443)
Carrying amount at the end of the year  233,168  228,296  7,174  2,316  60  471,014 

2018
Balance at the beginning of the year  233,168  228,296  7,174  2,316  60  471,014 
Additions at cost -  552  5,415  58  6,025 
Disposals (1,259) (1,548) (11) (2) (2,820)
Revaluations (4,304) (13,221) - (17,525)
Depreciation expense - (8,708) (858) (30) (9,596)
Carrying amount at the end of the year  227,605  204,819  6,857  7,731  86  447,098 
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MOVEMENTS IN CARRYING AMOUNTS
Movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property,  
plant and equipment between the beginning and the end of  
the current financial year:

LAND BUILDINGS
FIXTURES  

& FITTINGS
BUILDINGS UNDER 

CONSTRUCTION
OFFICE 

EQUIPMENT TOTAL
$ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000

2017
Balance at the beginning of the year  229,250  222,737  7,778  837  54  460,656 
Additions at cost -  315  1,479  30  1,824 
Disposals (830) (786) (50) - - (1,666)
Revaluations  4,748  11,895 - - -  16,643 
Depreciation expense - (5,550) (869) - (24) (6,443)
Carrying amount at the end of the year  233,168  228,296  7,174  2,316  60  471,014 

2018
Balance at the beginning of the year  233,168  228,296  7,174  2,316  60  471,014 
Additions at cost -  552  5,415  58  6,025 
Disposals (1,259) (1,548) (11) (2) (2,820)
Revaluations (4,304) (13,221) - (17,525)
Depreciation expense - (8,708) (858) (30) (9,596)
Carrying amount at the end of the year  227,605  204,819  6,857  7,731  86  447,098 

notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018
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Notes 7 and 8
2018 2017

NOTE 7 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS $ ’000 $ ’000

Computer software - at cost  337  318 
Accumulated amortisation (132) (75)
Accumulated impairment - - 
Net carrying amount  205  243 

Movements in Carrying Amount

Balance at the beginning of the year  243  318 
Additions  19 - 
Disposals - - 
Amortisation charge (57) (75)
Impairment losses - -

 205  243 
NOTE 8 - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Current

Trade creditors and operating acccruals  567  480 
Rent received in advance  444  443 
Accrued salaries, wages and on-costs  57  45 
Accrued capital expenditure  1,107  278 

 2,175  1,246 
Details regarding credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, including a maturity 
analysis of the above payables are disclosed in Note 16.
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Employee Provisions
Employee provisions represent amounts accrued for 
annual leave and long service leave.

The current portion for this provision includes the 
total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements 
and the amounts accrued for long service leave 
entitlements that have vested due to employees 
having completed the required period of service. 
Based on past experience, the company does not 
expect the full amount of annual leave or long service 
leave balances classified as current liabilities to be 
settled within the next 12 months. However, these 
amounts must be classified as current liabilities since 

the company does not have an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of these amounts in the event 
employees wish to use their leave entitlement.

The non-current portion for this provision includes 
amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that 
have not yet vested in relation to those employees who 
have not yet completed the required period of service. 

In calculating the present value of future cash flows in 
respect of long service leave, the probability of long 
service leave being taken is based upon historical 
data. The measurement and recognition criteria for 
employee benefits have been discussed in Note 1(f).

2018 2017
$ ’000 $ ’000

Current
Provision for employee benefits: annual leave  65  57 
Provision for employee benefits: long service leave  38  24 

 103  81 
Non-current

Provision for employee benefits: long service leave -  26 
-  26 

 103  107 

Note 9    Provisions
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2018 2017
NOTE 10 - CONTRIBUTED EQUITY $ ’000 $ ’000

a) Authorised capital
100,000,000 shares of $1.00 each  100,000  100,000

b) Issued capital
2 ordinary shares of $1.00 each fully paid  2  2 
10 redeemable preference shares of $1.00 each fully paid  10  12 
The redeemable preference shares are redeemable at the option of the shareholder 
or the company.  Two Redeemable Preference Shareholders redeemed one share 
each during the financial year.

NOTE 11 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Key Management Personnel     
Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the company, directly or indirectly, including any director 
(whether executive or otherwise) is considered key management personnel. The 
totals of remuneration paid to KMP of the company during the year are as follows: 

Key Management Personnel compensation:
short-term employee benefits  478  377 
other long-term benefits - - 
termination benefits -  70 

 478  447 

NOTE 12 - AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
The auditor of City West Housing Pty Ltd is the Audit Office of NSW 

Audit of the financial statements 48 43
No other benefits were received by the auditors

NOTE 13 - DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION
Director’s Fees including superannuation 120 77

Notes 10, 11, 12 and 13

notes to the financial statements
For the year ended 30 june 2018
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Notes 14 and 15
2018 2017

NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS $ ’000 $ ’000

Capital expenditure commitments
Aggregate capital expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant & equipment 
contracted for at balance date and not provided for.
No later than one year  30,050  1,698 
More than one year  1,184 - 

 31,234  1,698 

Operating lease commitment receivables
The company owns 9 commercial spaces. Lease terms are generally for periods of 5 
years with options for a further equivalent term.

Future minimum rental revenues under non-cancellable operating retail property 
leases not provided for and receivable.

No later than one year  588  62 
Later than one year and not later than five years  1,230 - 

 1,818  62 
GST payable to the ATO of $53,273 is included in the above figure ($5,630 in 2017)

NOTE 15 - CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Reconciliation of Cash Flows from Operating Activities with Net Current Year Surplus

Net surplus for the year  30,094  55,220 
Gain in disposal of property, plant & equipment (435) (108)
Depreciation and amortisation  9,653  6,476 
Fixed asset written off  12  11 
(Increase)/ decrease in receivables  16,908 (33,328)
Doubtful debts expense (63) -  
Bad debts written off  159 -  
Costs capitalised (433) -  
(Increase)/ decrease in payables (80) (173)
(Increase)/ decrease in provisions  23 (5)

 55,837  28,093 
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Note 16    Financial Risk Management

The company’s principal financial instruments are 
outlined below. These financial instruments arise 
directly from the company’s operations or are 
required to finance those operations. The company 
does not enter into or trade financial instruments for 
speculative purposes.    

The company’s main risks arising from financial 
instruments are outlined below, together with the 
company’s objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk. Further quantitative 
and qualitative disclosures are included throughout 

the financial statements.    

The Board and the Audit & Risk Committee have 

overall responsibility for the establishment and 

oversight of risk management and review and agree 

policies for managing each of these risks. Risk 

management policies are established to identify and 

analyse the risks faced by the company to set risk 

limits and controls and to monitor risks. Compliance 

with policies is reviewed by the company through 

regular reporting to the Board.

a) Financial instrument categories  
2018 2017

Notes Category $ ’000 $ ’000
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents           4 Not applicable  215,527  161,227 
Receivables1                                     5 Loans and receivables (at cost)  18,851  35,737 

Financial liabilities

Payables2                                          8 Financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost  1,730  803 

1Excludes statutory receivables and prepayments (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
2Excludes statutory payables and unearned revenue (i.e. not within the scope of AASB 7).
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Note 16    Financial Risk Management

b) Credit risk    

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 
company’s debtors defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the 
company. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
is generally represented by the carrying amount 
of the financial assets (net of any allowance for 
impairment).

Credit risk arises from the financial assets of the 
company, including cash, receivables and deposits. 
No collateral is held by the company. The company 
has not granted any financial guarantees. 

Credit risk associated with the company’s financial 
assets, other than receivables, is managed 
through the careful selection of counterparties 
and the establishment of minimum credit rating 
standards. 

Cash   
Cash comprises, cash on hand and bank balances 
with the Commonwealth Bank, Westpac Banking 
Corporation and National Australia Bank. Interest is 
earned on monthly bank balances at the average 11 

am cash rate and on term deposits at the interest rate 
on settlement. 

Receivables - trade debtors
Trade debts (rental debtors) become due on the 
first day of the fortnight for which they are billed. 
The company has a daily collection procedure which 
is reviewed and assessed by the Chief Financial 
Officer. A specific provision is raised for debts if the 
recoverability is deemed doubtful. Debts are written 
off when deemed not recoverable. Accordingly, other 
than the debts provided for as doubtful, no other 
allowance for impairment is deemed necessary nor is 
there any evidence that the company will not be able 
to collect all other amounts due. No interest is earned 
on outstanding debtors. 

Receivable - Other debtors  
In 2018, a significant debt of $15,911,598 (2017 
$33,750,496) is owed by the NSW Department of 
Planning and Environment in respect of Developer 
Contributions which it holds as trustee for City West 
Housing Pty Limited.  The company is not materially 
exposed to concentrations of credit risk to any other 
single debtor or group of debtors.  

2018 2017
$ ’000 $ ’000

Other Debtors  18,599  35,532 

The sundry debtors are not considered impaired and are 
not past due.
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Note 16    Financial Risk Management

c)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will be 
unable to meet its payment obligations when they 
fall due. The company continuously manages risk 
through monitoring future cash flows and maturities 
planning to ensure adequate holding of high quality 
liquid assets. The company has no borrowings and its 
liquidity risk relates to the management of operational 
and capital trade creditors. During periods of 
construction, capital creditors can be relatively high in 
relation to operating creditors and these are managed 
through careful placement of investments whose 
maturities are timed to coincide with the payment of 
capital creditors.

The liabilities are recognised for amounts due to 
be paid in the future for goods or services received, 
whether or not invoiced. Amounts owing to suppliers 
in 2018 were $320,869 (2017 $85,716), (which 
are unsecured) are settled in accordance with the 
supplier’s terms of trade and the company avails 
of early payment discounts where appropriate. All 
payables at 30 June 2018 mature within 30 days. 
There is no interest applicable to these payables.

d) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. The company’s exposure 
to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk 
on the company’s investments. The company has no 
exposure to foreign currency risk and does not enter 
into commodity contracts.

The effect on profit and equity due to a reasonably 
possible change in risk variable is outlined in the 
information below, for interest rate risk. A reasonably 
possible change in risk variable has been determined 
after taking into account the economic environment 
in which the company operates and the time frame 
for the assessment (i.e. until the end of the next 
annual reporting period). The analysis is based on 
risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018. 
The analysis assumes that all other variables remain 
constant.

e) Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk arises primarily through 
the company’s interest bearing investments. This 
risk is minimised by undertaking mainly fixed rate 
investments, with an equal spread between the major 
banks. The company’s exposure to interest rate risk is 
set out on the following page.

f) Fair value estimation 

The amortised cost of financial instruments 
recognised in the statement of financial position 
approximates the fair value because of the short 
term nature of many of the financial instruments. 
Financial instruments are classified under the 
revised AASB 7 measurement Tier 1 structure i.e. 
those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets. There has been 
no movement between Tiers. The carrying value of 
trade receivables and payables approximate their fair 
values due to their short term nature.
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Note 16    Financial Risk Management

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate

Carrying 
 amount

Change in interest  
income as a result of  
+1% in interest rate

Change in interest  
income as a result of  
-1% in interest rate

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity
e) continued % $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000 $ ’000
Financial assets

Cash - 1,736 17 17 (17) (17)
11am call 1.5 3,999 39 39 (39) (39)
Term deposits 2.5 209,792 2,097 2,097 (2,097) (2,097)
Receivables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Financial liabilities
Payables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

2017
Financial assets

Cash - 115 - - - -
11am call 1.5 3,677 36 36 (36) (36)
Term deposits 2.5 157,434 1,574 1,574 (1,574) (1,574)
Receivables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

Financial liabilities
Payables n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

f) continued Within 1 yr 1-5 yrs  > 5yrs Total
2018 2017

Assets due for receipt
Cash 215,527 - - 215,527 161,227
Trade Debtors 18,851 - - 18,851 35,737
Other Financial Assets  -   - -  -   -

Financial liabilities due for payment
Creditors  1,730 - - 1,730 803
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Notes 17, 18, 19 and 20

Note 17 
New Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations
The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting 
Standards and Interpetations that have mandatory 
application dates for future reporting periods.  The 
Company has decided not to early adopt these Standards. 

AASB 9  - Financial Instruments
AASB 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 16 - Leases 
AASB 1058 - Income of Not-for-Profit Entities

It is considered that the impact of these new Standards 
and Interpretations in future periods will have no material 
impact on the financial statements of the company.

Note 18 
Contingent liabilities
Major building defect works may be carried out on a 
building with a current estimate of between $3,000,000 
and $4,000,000.  The company is proceeding with litigation 
for the recovery of any monies that may be expended. 
(Contingent liabilities at 30 June 2017 were $4,000,000).

Note 19  
Events after balance sheet date
The company has not identified any events or 
transactions which would give rise to a material impact 
on the reported results or financial position of the 
company as at 30 June 2018.

Note 20 
Contingent receivables
The City West Affordable Housing Program and the 
Green Square Affordable Housing Scheme both 
allow developers to provide bank guarantees in lieu 
of development contributions in order to receive a 
construction certificate. Payment of the development 
contribution is then paid in order to receive an occupation 
certificate. There is no certainty that the projects with 
Bank Guarantees at 30 June 2018 will be completed and 
payment of the development contribution made. Bank 
guarantees at 30 June 2018 total $29,804,652.
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In the Director’s opinion:

1) The financial statements and notes, as set out 
on pages 55 to 80 are in accordance with the 
Corporations Act 2001 and:

a)  Comply with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Corporations Regulations 2001, Public 
Finance and Audit Act 1983, the Public Finance 
and Audit Regulation 2015, Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 
and other mandatory professional reporting 
requirements, and

b)  Give a true and fair view of the financial position 
of the Company as at 30 June 2018 and of the 
performance for the year ended on that date.

2) There are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable

This declaration is made in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors.

Mike Rollo

Director

Dated this 27th day of September 2018



As a charity, CWH has a 
social purpose to provide 
quality, affordable rental 
housing for people on 
very low to moderate 
incomes and to help build 
communities where people 
can live and work locally
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Phone 02 8584 7500
Email enquiries@citywesthousing.com.au
Website citywesthousing.com.au     
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